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church on Friday nip,ht, and the only t h i n g  he said about 
' 

Marvin Patr ick  was t h a t  he got shot on Friday  n l c h t .  Hadn't 

sald a word about them going anywhere,  doing anyti i inq.  T h a t  

1s a l l  he sald about them in that statement .  You heard ne 

ask him zboiit- it. 

Jus t  go ahead and s I ~ n  somethin5 now 60  ue'll 

know you were with them. Oon't worry about t h e  facts .  Ye'll 

~ i v e  them to you la ter  on. You can COJie up wjth soneth inq  

l a t e r  The samcfhlnR with Allen ilall. Give him one of them 

sign and zive fac t s  later statement. * 

He c m e s  in here and photographically describes t o  

L*. , 

you how Joe Vright rras out here. Everybody e l s e  had one gun, 

but Joe  \!riqht ha6 a s h o t ~ u n  and a p i s t o l  with a jacket on 

that shined in the back wi th  soae b u l l e t s  on it, wi th  b u l l e t  

stained on it. T h a t  is Joe ';!right. 

I n  t h a t  statement he didnt t say a single  thin^ 

about Joe Wright having Zi Kc comes in tiere and t p l l s  

you how Reginald Epps was up in t h e  l o f t  on Friday n i g i ~ t ,  

and he handed hlrn a drink of water. 

See, Allen Hall is everyrrhere. lie's cot to hand 

thc man o drink of water in the loft to make sure he is 

up there .  See? I don't understand it, ladies and gentlemen. 



Here is a nan who claims t o  know everythinq about every-  

thing t h a t  happened and he s i ~ n e d  a s t a t e ~ e n t  t h a t  doesn ' t  

have any evidence. l!e s i q n s  a statement csc't even tell 

you where he  was ,  50 he s a y s ,  Sut he can tell where every- 

body else ?ws. T h i s  i s  the context in wMch t h i s  case was 

' put toqcther, photorrraphs and ?lctures, papers  snd Looks 

and diaqrams. T h a t  1s  w h a t  this case is all about in p u t t i n 3  

. . 

Now by t h i s  time the S t a t e  has its t x o  c h l e f  

witnesses. They ~ o t  the ma2nan who is p o i n ~  to charge at 

the lawyers if they ask h i ?  too ma3g ques t ions .  IIc is r e a d y ,  

a?d they have got the ~ : u r d c r e r  ?iho is so cool t h a t  he toes 

. to reform school on vaca t ion .  They  have cot both of then 

together  and ready t o  test ify.  

Isn't it s t r a n y e ,  ladies and y c n t l e w n ,  t h a t  b o t h  

:a:ltchell P-nd Xsll sit he re  an? t e l l  you there  were s e v c n t y -  

fivs to a !;undrcd peonlc  i n  c h u r c h  on P r i d ~ y  n2qht  and some- 

. . t h i n g  Like t h a t  number in the churckr on Saturday ?i?ht, 2nd 

when t h e  S t a t e  ce ts  rcady to ~ e t  its witnesses  to t e s t 3 f y  

they s ta r t  e n ? p t y i n ~  out Cherry I josp i ta l?  J u s t  go up there 

and err l~ty o u t  C h e r r y  l ias?ital to cct some witnesses. 

So they d e c i d e d  t h n t  em?tyin~ ou t  Ci lerry  Hosplta1 

wasn't enouqh. So i n  !#lay they go on ~ 2 ~ , t  Cklerry !.laspltal 



and go all t h e  way up to  Rocky !fount. Now they are goins 

to empty out t h e  t r a l n i n e  school .  And up pops l i t t l e  Notor 

blouse. Little Motor Kouse. J u s t  a cute l t t t l e  fellow, ' J -ust  

as quick and smart as any you'll ever  gain^ to find. 

So they went .up there and talked to Mouse, 

. . Ad two weeks later l i t t l e  ?.!ofor ?louse is out of t r a i n i n &  

school and back in Mllrnin&ton. TWO weeks after that 1<0t0r 

Mouse I s  meeting with Jay.Stmu4,  D a l e  Johnson and B r o - n  out 
. ,  

I : 

at the ~ o l l d a ~  -Inn i n  blllmington. Little Motor Nouse has . * 

arrived. Now he is at the Holiday Inn in Vilrnington talking 
. . 

w i t h  the s o l i c i t o r  snd Mr. Bran and !4r. Johnson, the man 1 

c%- who put him in t h e  re form school. !4r. Brown don't llve in 
, -  . 

the ~ o l i d a g  Inn. Irirs. Brown don1 t l i v e  in the Holiday Inn .  

- -. : .J -All of them are talkinp. t o  notor ::ouse, and lor 
" .- . 
, - 

and behold ;hpt hgve they  got i % ~ i t h  them. The picture show. - 2 

I" 

. . 
, . 

 he p l c t u r o .  show. Got to put on o picture show fo r  l i t t l e  

- .  
Motor 'louse. Got to get l lotor Mouse ready. They had already 

taken p i c t u r e s  up to  Rocky ?+!aunt. That must have been some 

real i n t e res t inc  pictures ,  ladies and gentlemen, but I swear 

they ohow him plctures of  everybody they could find. Yotor 

Youse, Mitchell' and Hall. E~ptyinp; out the J a i l s ,  the prlsono,  

t h e  mental 1 . n s t i t u t i o n a  and the t r a i n t n ~  school. Got to get 

some wltnesscri here, got to try the cssc. We have got t h e  . , 



& 
photop.raphs. Ve have qot the bullets. We have got t h e  

bandages, we've got the paper, we've got th6 shotqun 

shells and the b u l l e t s .  A T 1  we need I s  witnesses.  

We know Hall is ~ o i n p ,  to come i n  here and s a y  Een Chavis 

t o l d  them l i t t l e  children how to shoot so t hey  shot up the 
.. 

&ide of t h e  church.  So we need Xotor Xouse t o  show there 

was l i t t l e  children in t h a t  church. See? 

So t h e y  had them all toeether. They got Eall. 
. 

They got FTitchel1,and they got Wetor Mouse ready t o  come 

to try this case. 

Now they called out t b e  list of witnesses to 

you at t h e  outset of this trial, they must have had some 

- .  doubt a b o u t  Hotor Youse. 

never told you t h a t  

Fe must not have been ready. They 

Gotar !<ouse was coming I n  here. They 

-I 'never a s k e d  you if you knew p!otor .>.ouse. Ve never  got a . 

chance to ask you if you lcnex lotor Mouse. Cot !.!otor !*!ouse 

in a t r i c k  bag, p u l l e d  hlm out of a hat j u s t  like a r a b b i t .  

. . .. , ' 

Get ready for him when you need him. Arter everything had 

. . been presented you heard from Hall. You've seen him go 

. . 
t h r o u ~ h  h i s  gymnastics on t h e  s tand .  . . . I .  ?> - 

You heard from i i t c h c l l .  He t o l d  you about t h e  

nice vacat ion  he had u p  at t h e  traininr school. lif: qot a 



l i t t l e  t i r e d  of It so he escapcd. You heard from h i m .  I - - 
. - 

You had even heard f r o i  one of t h e  defendants and . .. ..:. : . . 
1 - * 

then the Sta te  reaches back in its  t r i c k  bap, and u? pops - . .A 

, .; . . 
. L .  . . 

* 
Notor blouse r l q h t  on the stand.  Motor :louse is s m a r t .  Pe . 

catches on qulck.  N o  question about that. fay you would ' 

- t 

show this  picture t o  the Jury. 

"Who is that?" 

Yotor i.!ouae ainr t going t o .  say nothinq unless he 

h w n s  what he is doinq. See what ybu?re'talking about. 

. .  Hunsvol asked him, "%fiere did you go . . 
for you went to t r a i n f i ~  school, or df~d  you go 

L .- 
school before you vent to Court?" 

to Court be- 

.to t r a i n i n g  

' '"\Jhat you say?" 

You . . pul l ed  noth ing  on Uotor Mouse. 
. . 

a smart one. Here's rock a grown man eleven gear old r l c L  

a grown man, you saw how big he is, Zotor ?bfouse. Knows h i s  

way around, l i t t l e  Yotor Youse ; known what it is to bc deal- 

. Ing w i t h  pol ice  and solicitors. Yotor Nouse already knew 
. . 

before he was eleven years o l d .  He had l i e d  to h i s  grand- 

- niama when ever he f e l t  like that i s  what he o u ~ h t  to do; 
, . 

, . , , . , .  . . .  

. . .  . . l i e d  t o  gol ice  of f ice r .  whenever he f e l t  like t h a t  1s what 

hc ought to (30; l i e d  to the s tore  ovnern whenever they 



K"v" 
caught him steal ine,  been steal in^ so long he can't even 

remember when he started; eleven.year o ld  Seen lying so 

long he doesn't know when he started,  that eleven gear old.  

Whv d i d  t h e  State h i d e  Yotor ?.?ouse. Did they 

know that Motor Mouse had been l y i n q  s ince back before he 

could remember? And was probably l y i n g  then? 'I don't know 

why they didn't s a y ,  " Y e l l  Motor Youse i s  a p o t e n t i a l  

witness, l a d l e s  and gentlemen. Do any of you all know 

Notor Mouse? Motor 24oouse is a witness we mlght b r k q  in 

here. YOU might ask the people if they know Yotor Mouse." 
, . 

F o r  some reason t h e y  must have thought t h e y  
. , .-. ... ' . . 

weren't goinq to use Votor Mouse, didn't need to use 3otor 
. . 

Mouse until at  some point he panicked and realized t h a t  

d h l ' k n d  Xltche l l  hat! l i e d  so much tha t  nobody ;qould be- . - 

l i e v e  them ... and two i i ers  wouldn't make It.  You'd b e t t e r  
... i 

bring I n  a third one. If three people tell the  same lie, 
. . .  
maybe somebody is going to believe it, and thus  ?totor 

Mouse. Better not get Yotor p.lause t o  slgn a statement.  
. ' . .. * * .. 
He i s  a l i t t l e  young. We'll j u s t  show him the pictures  

. . *  

everytine w e  see him. Allen Hall already met with  him at 

the  Holiday Inn and primed ] r i m ,  t o l d  him whet happened, 

what he cas r:oing to sh:~ ha?pcncd. 

La. Why in t h e  world dld  Allen ilall h+ve t o  meet 



14otor House at the Ilollday Inn? I mean why? They ain't 

going to tell you, "Well me need t o  see if !totor Xouse 

can i d e n t i f y  Hall or whether Hall i d e n t i f y  Yotor i4our;c. 11 

Well t h e y  had plctures of everybody e l se .  They had p i c t u r e s  

of people going to a f u n e r a l ,  pic tures  of people  dordn at 

City iiall. They had got  pictures of every th in$ .  They have ~ o t  
F 

pictures of t h e  church3 the church balcony, the church bath- 

room, basement, e v e r y t l ~ l ; r p  you can think oc they have (rot 

a picture of ,but I wouldn't be sur?rised if t hep  tell you 

that they  needed to take 14otor Mouse so ti- could i d e n t i f y  

Eall. 

Well Mitche l l  wasn't down there. They didn't take 

Fitchell to see if he  could identify Xotor ?%use. \my didnl t 

t h e y  do that? I don't ?mow. I can't t h i n k  of but one reason 

Allen Hall and Y o t c ~  ?-louse ne t  at the Holiday Inn.  That ras . 

so Allen Hall and Rotor ?louse could ~ e t  t o q c t h e r  under 

circumstances sa t i s fac tory  t o  Allen Kall 3L the 3olidav Inn. 

That is the context in which t h i s  case is put toqether.  

Everytlne t h e y  talked t o  Motor 14ouse they shoved 

h i a  photographs.  They showed him photozraphs  the norninq 

before he t e s t i f i e d .  They showed him photograplls t h i s  past 

Stmday. Little !.lol;or :.louse, t i r ir tcen yearn  o l d ,  s a y s  he 

knew everybody but they  got t o  show him t h e s e  ?i~otozraphs 



everytlne they talk to him. Fny? fte doesn't need any . . 

photo~raphs  t o  i d e n t i f y  people he's been knovinc POT a . - 

lon3 t i m e .  Doesn't need that. B u t  t h a t  is t h e  context . - 

in which this case  was brouvht Into t h e  Courtroom. 

?lot;: here's P.llen Eall. I!e is familiar w i t h  ever:,' 

crook, nook and cranny of that  :uhole trro block area betrreen 

Seventh Stree t ,  P i f t h  S t r ee t ,  Ann Street and Xun Stree t .  Arid 

now why? He t o l d  you why. They took him out there  about 

three  weeks befare t h f s  trisl started. Mr. Stroud, Mr. 

Johnson, ?IF. Brown, r whoever else it was, and Aller. I l a l l .  

go in^ out there to make sure he had it a l l  t o g e t h e r .  Been 

t a l k i n g  to him f o r  a year now. )!cad alrcad:~ slgned a sta te -  

ncnt Sack 2n PeSruary.  Cot to take t ha t  extra  s tep t o  nake su re  

t k a t  they are dolnq  I t  r i p b t .  Don't nant any mistakes about . 
t h a t .  This is the  c o n t e x t  in ~ h i c h  it was put t ope the r .  

Allen Hall sat  r i y h t  aver there where Tcr. :."redlaw 

and Mr.  Brown are s i t t i n z  not: durfng this jury se l ec t i on  

- process. !:'hat In the world has Allen Xall ~ o t  to do wi th  

select in^, a jury ,  but he sat r i g h t  there. What was t ha t  a 

I way for Allen Hall to be sure tha t  when he stood up from 

t h e  stand hc could say,  "Now t h a t  is ??nrvln Patrick seated 

in t h e  back w i t h  t h e  rust color-ed shlrt trimmed i n  black 

, . 



and the black pants. And t ha t  1 s  Wayne Yoore seated n e x t  

to h i m  w i t h  the purple s h l r t  trimmed in Green with the rust  

colored pants on, and t h a t  is Jerry Jacobs seated over there 

with the red preen and black p l a i d  s h i r t  on and Connie T y n d a l l  

is seated i n  the ye l low next to h i m  and Joe W r i ~ h t  I s  seated 
. .. 

in t h e  front here w i t h  the maroon pants and the l i p h t  maroon 

s h i r t ,  and t ba t  is Rev. ~havis over  t he re  dressed i n  the 

clerical garb, and over here is Villie Vereen i n  t h e  f r o n t  
x7- - 

in p r i n t  shirt; and next t o  him James RcXoy in t h e  back and 
4 

over there on the end is Recinald Epps. -1 

-That  1s real ly  Irnpre~sive when Allen Hall stands 
. . 

up and says t h a t  af ter  you had been s i t t i n g .  here i n  the room 

looklng a t  people f o r  two reeks and a f t e r  h a ~ i n k  vlewcd 

photographs everytime you t u r n  around. What else  are you 

colnq to say? Suppose somebody ca l led  upon me now to 

i d e n t i f y  you. I could p o i n t  you out  if I vanted to if 1 

needed to. We have been here t o ~ e t k l e r  f o r  f i v e  weeks. 

I could say that is Mr. Leland Jones back there and Wr. 
is 

Julian Uooten/seated next w i t h  the khaki colored s h i r t  and 
. . 

Miss Sue Murphy I n  f r o n t  of him, and r i p , h t  next 1". !4r.?aul :lard, 
I 

and n e x t  to Mr. GIard is T4iss Slnmon~ and she is the younp: 

lady  seated r i q h t  next  to !!rs. Cox, who ha3 on the black and 

! w  white print and blue s h i r t ,  and then r fg t l t  behind R r s .  Cox 



C i .  

h-,. 
is Mr. Sutton, the the pink colored shirt on, 

and next to him to his r i ~ h t  is ?rs. \.!illlams i n  the blue, 

and rtght over on the other s i d e  of Yr. Sutton is F?r. Meredith, 

and r l p h t  next to Yr. Yeredith is ?iss Day, Wiss r~snes  Day, 

and in f r o n t  of her I s  Zr. ?enthc, and r i ~ h t  n e x t  to him I s  

tr?rs.  Colvin in the blue, and lire come up there and ?Crs. Anders 

and seated on t h e  f r o n t  to my l e f t ,  and richt next to her is 

Xrs. Jacobs, and the ~ e n t l e m c n  on the end !s  Mr. Deal. Ain't 

no biq deal for Allen Hall to stand up from t h e  stand ar.d tell 

you who these people are seated here. Anybody can. They have 

been here lonz e n o u ~ h .  That  is supposed to be impressive 

when he can look o u t  there and look at  all of them. He's 

been l o o k i n g  a t  the p i c t u r e s  for a year  and t e l l i n g  l i e s  a l l  

t h e  while, That  Is the context in which t!:ls b i f i o l e  case -;:?is 

put t 0.7ether. 

E J ~ N  why ::as it put to,qether in t h a t  fash ion?  &- 

cause, l a d i e s  and centlemcn, t h e  p r o s e c u t i o n  xade a , judsn~?nt  

on Februa ry  8,  1971, t h a t  the people in Grecory Conyretional 

Church had t o  be blasted out, had to be co t ten  out of there;  

and they c m e  there on February  8 ,  1971, t h a t  is IJonday 

morning, v i t h  w h a t  t h e y  c a l l  n a l f t c l y  an A P C. An arrnored 

pcrsanncl c a r r i e r  I think they c a l l  it, That  1s the nice 



. . 

name f o r  it. It 1s nothing but a big round vehicle that  -- .. , 
' ,  

. carries sorne soldiers w i t h  some guns In it. They were 

ready t o  t r y  them, prosecute them, and sentence t h e m ,  Judae ' 

._ , 
them and sentence them r i g h t  there on ?Ionday morninc, a f t e r  . 

they found then there. That included l i t t l e  Motor rlouse, 
.1 

- . *  . .  . 
too ,  if he had been there. . -.. . - 

On February 8, 1971, they were out there. Palice - 
.+ 

- .  . decked out in flaab vests .  Soldiers rldinp, in an arnored 

. _. . ' v6hlcle. police all over the place. They are out  there on 
r ., 

. . .  . . February 8. . Judgments had already been made. Perhaps t h e  . - . e 

most notable who had been in t h e  church as it turns out a,. . ; , 
. " 

. . according t o  t h e i r  theory, vras Ben Chavis; and they  started 

snapping photosraphs of him everywhere he went. If he went 
. . 

to a meetinq they got a photograplr. If he went to a funeml 

- . 9 .  

they got a photoqragh. If he went to the bathroom t h e y  m i ~ h t  
. . 

have some p h o t o ~ r a p b s  of t ha t .  Wverywhere the man went thcy 
. . . . . .  . . . . 
: . . . . , . . . .  

got photographs. . , 

. . . .  . . 
. .. . , . , 

" . . . .  

. .  . . . They had already decided what t h e  case Has go in^ 
. . . . . . 

.. , . . ,'. . . . 
. . . . . . 

. , .  to be about. It was j u s t  a matter of' g e t t i n g  some"od~ to come 

, .  . in and say what it was. Why from those hundred people from 

Gregory Congretlonal Church, do thcy end up with Yotor tnouse?. 

Cute In a way and very sad and p i t i f u l ,  in ano the r  armed 

hrt-nkint? and c n t e r i n ~  robbery a t  eleven years old or "..- -----.-- . 



before that. Itr s kind of sad. It's kind  of sad.  It was 

sad for me to see him s i t t i n g  on t h i s  stand and t e l l i n g  you 

that he had been lyinp ever since he could remenber t o  h i s  

grandmother who was raisinq him and lyinq ever since he 

- .  . could remember t o  police and firemen and store owners. It 
I 

was very sad for  me, ladles and gentlemen. 

And I didn't see + any point I n  taking l i t t l e  ?Gotor 

Mouse through the same kind of cross examination t h a t  we 

took Allen Hall. I could not do t h a t  to t h a t  llttle c h i l d ,  

although I d i d  fee l  that  it was necessary to ask h i m  sone 

t h i n = s  a b o k  h i s  backqround In order to reveal to you the  

context In which h i s  tes t imony was given. It 1s very sod. 

He-was a very, very vulnerable little boy. It h u r t s  me to 
. - 

see that he was used in the wag tha t  ?le was in t h i s  Court- 
- ,-. 

room on t h i s  witness stand. Out he was. He, if you ask 

- . - me, was the saddest oP all of the witnesses that ;$as brouqht 

, In here by t h e  State.  But then the o the r  two ch ie f  witnesses 

are sad, ~ i t i f u l  young men with broken lives too. 

1 r. . 
- Jerone Mitchel l ,  a murderer at s ixteen - seventeen 
, 

an armed robber at the same aqe. I suppose t r u t h  and JustLce 

don't mean very much to him any more. Ire would come in here 

just ~ S C O O ~  and blow your heads off if he tnouqht you had 



somethin? he needed j u s t  l i k e  he did t h a t  store owner 

down there. Very sad, p i t i f u l  y o u n ~  man with a broken 
.I " 

life, 

All of the people who say Allcn Hall was  in the 

church they cone up w i t h  Hotor Rouse and Jerome Yitchell,  

t w o  very vulnerable youne men, very  very sad lives, very 

pitiful, very sorry. And even AZlen Fa11 himself, ladles 

and gentlemen, i s  a very p i t l f u l , ~ p i t l f u l  soul. I f e l t  

more sorry f o r  him than anger 'at  h i m  when he charged from 

the witness stand In the way t h a t  he did. 1 realized then 
. . 

that here is a man w i t h  a very, very sick mind. Here i s  a 

man subject to  almost a n y t h i n s .  Here is a man who we Sacked 

into  a corner; we cau.3ht in the ' vj-c? of' . l ;~is . own lies would 

j m p  ug and charge at  any th inc  c l o s e  to him, And t hen  when 

I sav t h a t  which was not the first t i n e  I had seen him, I 

realized t h a t  Allen I ia l l  in a tight spot reacts j u s t  l l k e  a 

drowning man. He reaches out and J u s t  t r i e s  to pull doxn 

. anythine t h a t  he-can grab and take doxn w i t h  him, j u s t  vhat- 

ever 1s close by he reaches out and epahs and p u l l s  with h i m .  

That is really, lad ies  and gentlemen, what happened to Allen 

Hall back I n  i4ay of 1971 and the tlrnes t h a t  fol loued.  Ee 
. . 

real lzed he was baclced into a c o r n e r ,  and he started r each ing  



out and pullin? down anybody that he could find j u s t  like 

a drown in^ man. "If I could save myself, I w i l l .  Worry 

. . 
about t h e  others later." 

Don't you f i n d  it s a d ,  ladies and ~ e n t l e m e n ,  t ha t  

these are the k i n d  of witnesses t ha t  t h e  S t a t e  has presented 

to you in this case? Three men with . u t t e r l y d e p r a v e d  . l i v e s ,  
" .  

utterly broken spirits, very very vulnerable;  an2 they were 
4 

all brought in here by the prosecution; put on t h e  w i t n e s s  

stand to support a case t h a t  they had al ready d e c i d e d  rrkich 

. way it o u ~ h t  to' 59. 1 f i n d  t ha t  sad indeed,  3-zdies and 

gentlenen. 

C. And a l t h o u ~ h  I kno:! it was ny responsibility, we 

knew it  was o u r  responsibility t o  deal  with  the^ harsh ly  if 

need be in order to ~ e t  zt $he t r u t h ,  I d o n ' t  think t h a t  

-. there I s  any question that  I asked anyone of them t h a t  didn't 

hurt me in a sense to see how sad and p - l t i f u l  t h e y  were. 

T h e i r  lives v:Ill probably never 2qaln be any good to then- 

se lves  or anyone, The ?:+ttern in which t h e y  are qo inc  has 

already been e s t a b l i s h e d .  I hope that  sornexhere ,some day 
. . 

t h e i r  l l v c s  can be reconstructed; t h a t  somewhere somebody 

w i l l  he lp  l i t t l e  ?notor Youse f i n d  h i s  xay and r ea l i ze  that 

armed robbery  I s  no t  the  way; tba.t hreaklnq and e n t e r i n f r  i .: 

not t h e  w a y ;  t h a t  t o  come l a t o  Court and say t h i n r s  t h a t  cr:? 



not t r u e  13 not the way. 

I hope t h a t  somewhere alan~ t h e  l i n e  Allen Hall 

will rea l ize  the er ro r  of h i s  ways and bc reconstructed. I hope 
- 

soxc-.<here along the line derone Yitchell, as f a l l e n  as he 

I s ,  will show you, be able to reconstruct h i s  l i f e ,  and do 

somethinq usefu l .  

The l i k e l i h o o d  of t h a t  happening is perhaps remote, 

but perhaps a l l  3 s  not lost at t h i s  po in t .  ?qouldnlt I t  seen 

that out of all t h e  persons they said were assembled there 

they could b r i n c i n  one decent witness, orre believable wit- 

ness? They havenrt even done t h a t .  Now why? Why? 

Let's look at t h e  rest of the State's case and see 

what It w a s .  I always like to think back w i t h  you because 

usua l ly  on j u r y  selection t he  reason f o r  the questions 

generally come out ?n the presentation of t h e  evidence.  !<ow 

you w i l l  recall I asked 211 of you xhether or not you would 

. . bel ieve  t h e  police off icers  more quickly t hzn  you would other  

Per sons  in t h e  t r i a l  of a case.  Now if you look at the 40 

Nitnesses t h a t  the S t a t e  brought in here and put on the stand, 

only 12 of those 40 witnesses were civilians. All of t h e  

others were po l i c e  and firemen. Why? 

L a d i e s  and .qentlemen, they  lac^; that never for one 

minute would you b e l i e v e  what Allen  IIall had to say. They 



knew t h a t  never f o r  one minute would you b e l i e v e  what 

Jerome X i t c h e l l  had to sag. They knew t h a t  never for one 

m i n u t e  would you believe l i t t l e  ?lotor F!ouse. So t h e  idea 

is t o  br inr ,  i n  suaeSody who rnay be b e l i e v a b l e  and ?resent 

what t h e y  had t o  say in juxtaposition to what these other 

p l t l f u l  sou l s  had to say and perhaps somebody, sone::here 

would b e l i e v e  it . . That rrzs the theory and that l a  what 

happened. 

T f  Jerome Mitchell will say that on Friday n i ~ h t  

he went do:m to Dock Street  alonp, x i t h  soae other boys and 

s h o t  at sonebodyls house, then it makes him more believable 

to b r i n g  in :,'r. Smith,  ??.!F. Fred Smith ,  rho was n o t  a po l i ce  

tr of f i ce r  to say,  Yes, ~y house was sho t  Into." And to have 

!4r. Smith s i t  on t h e  witness stand and l den t i fy  t h r e e  photo- 

graphs. 

This whole trial is ahout p h o t o ~ r a p h s  si~o'.cinq where 

111s house was s h o t  into and :Ji~cn you s a y ,  ''!iouse. IIouae "as 

shot  i n t o , "  l i k e  t h a t ,  then you say, "?:y God, I !lava rot to 

bel ieve  Jerome P:Itchell  when he says h e  was down there w i t h  

someone doinp: it.'' All of that to make Jerome ?$itchell morc 

be l i evab le .  

They ]:new t ha t  Fr.  Smith'; house had been shot i n t o .  



They knew that if Yr. Smith cone in and ' s a i d  one thing, 

althouqh he couldn't tell you a t h l n ~  about '~~-3:r:e M i t c h e l l ,  

if they say the same t h i n ?  about the hame,  then t h i s  means 

t h a t  J e r o x e  Y i t c h e l l  n u s t  be  t c l l i n q  t h e  t r u t h  about every- 

t h i n q  else be said. It's a sim?le matter of l 0 0 k i n ~  at a 

r e p o r t ,  seein? if Yr. Smith's house was sho t  into and coain~ 

on t h e  s tand  t e s t i f y i n q .  , 

I could s:ake a b e t t e r  w i t n e s s  in this C ~ S C  than 

. Jerome Mitchell; Allen Hall, Yotor 3:ouse, q u s t  by looking 

. : a t  the photographs  I could weave together a s t o r y  l i k e  

something you have never heard tefore..Tust by lookins  at  

the pictures I could cive you a xllole long story 01: every- 

thin: t h a t  happened on Thursday,  P r i d a y  , ~ a t u r d a g  , '*nda;v, 

Tuesday, just by lookinq at the pictures if I had a n ind  t o  

do so. It is not d i f f i c u l t  to do. That is what tha t  evidence 

i s  a l l  aSout. 

4- If you can s e t  some police officcrs bc: 32-f t i x t  0;; 

7 ' r i d ; i y  ni$:t xe were down at F i f t h  and ldun and someSoci:? tt're:.~ 

a f i r e b o m b  and t h e n  Allen Hall comes in and says on Friday 
i 

n i c h t ,  "I ?las down at F i f t h  and Yun and I threw a fSrebomb 

i 
i or aomrbodv I was w l t h  threw a f irebomb a t  the hcuse  and it 

4 

I 
? went out, and we went back," That makes Allen Wall a very 

bclievaSle witne33. H e  i s  saginc t h e  sane thin? the police 
I *> 



officers are saylnp,. So w e  have to got to b e l i e v e  hin .  

These police officers knew on Friday n i g h t  what they saw. 

Allen Hall talked with police. I am sure P!r. Stroud talked 

with pol ice  on different occasions during this whole period 

of time that  he was t a l k i n g  w i t h  Allen Hall countless t i m e s .  

I am suggesting tbat they had to t e l l  him e v e r y t h i n s  he had 

to say. All you have to $0 is say, "Allen Hall, if you 

were there on Friday nlght didn't somebody KO down and throx 

a firebonb at thls house on Fifth and Nun Street, and didn't 

you leave and go back dvtrn to  the church?" 

"Yes, sir; Rr. Stmud,  that  I s  whet r e  did ."  

"Allen Hall, on Friday didn't  three people throw 

something at i!ikel s Grocery ; a firebod? We found some 

bott les  outside of t h e  store. Do you reficmhcr that happen- 

. .,  in^ on Friday n i ~ h t ? "  

"Yes, sir; ?4r. Stroud." "Yes, s ir;  ?!r. Brorn, I 

remc~nber t1 t r . t  happenlnp whenever I l e f t  tho church and went 

out there, t h a t  is when we threw t h o s e  Tirebombs out there 

and didn't one of them ~ , o  into an ugst3irs window and another 

one in the downstairs. Yes, I b e l i e v e  t h a t  is the wzy it 

happened because whenever we threw them t h a t  is where they 

went. " 



You don't have t o  s i t  him doan and s a y ,  "Al len ,  

go t o  Court, say that somehody t h r e w  firebornSs. . I You don1 t 

have to say,  "Allen B a l l ,  go to Court and s a y  Den C l ~ a v l s  

taught you how to male firebombs ~llen-Ball, co to Court 

and tell them about the people who were at the church.'' 

"I donq t remember. " 

"Let's see the a pictures .  Uas Joe Wrlpht there?" 

"He was i;t t h e  Press Conference they had on Yonday. 

I believe he was there. As a matter of fact, I believe he 

had a Fun. No, he had two. I' 

"And wasn't Ben Chavls there direc t ina  e v e r y t h i n g  

whenever they  had these public meetings? Fen Chavls was 

out f r o n t ,  -.uasn9t ire, there t e l l i n g  everybody else 'irhat to 

do?" 

'Yes, a3 a matter of fact, be was." 

Anyone of you could have been a t i i t n e s s  in t h i s  

Case ,just by lookln~ at the photoqraphs 2nd tho e x h i b t t s  and 

t ! ~ e  pictures and :<hat-have-you if you had been of a mind to 

do 30. Anybody could have done that it -.-Jas a very, very 

simple matter. 

Now maybe you fee l ,  well, perhaps t h a t  didn't 

really nut it COUICI have. 



t o  be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt. T h a t  is what 

you have qot to do. I s n ' t  i t  very easy t o  look at a 

photograph and a picture in the newspapers ?lrs. Decker? 

I.am sor ry ,  ?4rs. Watts, sitting there in her car ta lklnq 

to police and firemen? 

'Yes, I remember that because that  was up the 
. - 

s t r e e t  here, and we wentbup there, and w e  were shooting, and 

she came by there." 
- . 

. .  .Have *'you noticed how e v e r y t h l ? ~  that boy said t i e d  

2 - - .  . r l g h t  in with something the  police s a i d  or something some- 
. - 

t r  
. A  

.U - . 
body else had t o  sap? Have you noticed t h a t ?  

w I mean why? 'Why this perfect fit? Allen Xall 
1: . ,+. - .: - 
1d + says it. A po l i ce  officer comes in and backs  it up. P-llen 

+ . - 
-* 

. . I _  . Hall sags it. They f ind  a c i v i l i a n  to cone in and Sack it 
z d "  > 

. - up, somebody who was shot .  Something about the w l y  this * 
.- . 

. case was put toge ther  t h a t  bothers me, and T think it is 
- . . 

. . going to bother  you. 

I don't see how you could f ee l  beyond a reason- 
, ,  *. 

% -. 
r a b l e  doubt that it couldn't have happened t h a t  way, I . - 

i .  *, ..' 
wasnlt there, and you weren't there. We don't really know. 

The only one we had to tell us about it was Allen Hall. 

You see? That  I s  what t h j  s case Is a l l  about. That  I s  what 

you got to look  at. 



Then you say, ''Why? Why? Why would anybody 
- .  

want t o  do that?"  

Ladies and centlernen, we talked about the way 
. . ?. - 

=I 

- people could get. wrapped up in th ings  sometimes. If those 
. - 

police -were. out Ithere and they were fired upon they wereni t 
. . 

. - 
happy -. .with , . it on Friday night or Saturday night .  Those 

* ' a 

firemen were out. there putting out t h a t  fire at Mike's 

Grocery in t r y i n g  - .  to put out that f i r e  at those ladiesf 
. . . .  . . 

C" : .* 
homes., They weren't happy if someone shot at then. That 

2 . * 

. is a Jeri aang,eGous thing.  It is a very difficult situation 
'' .. 

0 . and tha t  would be a react ion t o  anyone who did it or any- 
&- / .a 

. . . . 
one vrho might have done it. 

You a l l  heard about t h a t  weeken2 in Wflmington. 

It was well known In t h i s  area of Wilmington, t h r o u q h o u t  

the country I am sure. And you can irnagfne t h e  tremendous 

- .  pressures to conv lc t  somebody of somcthf nc because :.I1 

t h i s  shooting happened, because t h i s  burninp happened. 

Somebody's got to pay f o r  t h a t ,  There  was damage done t o  
. . 

. t h i s  manrs store; these poor people have lost t h e i r  homes; 
. > .  . ' I  - .  . . , 

' . _. 
. . our police and firemen have risked t h e i r  l i v e s ;  somebody's 

gat to pay f o r  that .  Who I s  t h e  most likely person? 

6 f )ere they s i t .  There they sit. Somebody connected 
% - 

I 



with these marches downtown, somebody connected with 

Grezorj Congretional Church is the  cause of all of t h i s .  .. 
Somebody's p o t  to pay. Perhags we will never g e t  every- 

body, but re will g e t  somebody. .- . . . .  *-.. 
. . . , .," 

And here you have nine younE men and one young 

lady .  The State  will say, "Well why these? Why not some- . . 

one e lse  who was t h e r e ? "  - 
. . 

I can't answer that. I wasn't there.  When Allen 

,, _ H a l l  looked at those photographs I don't know why he picked 

these particular persons. Xaybe t h e y  were the ones xho 

showed up on some of t h e  photographs downtown or these were 

the ones who were put there, the ones they had photographs 

o f ,  and t h a t  was the  b e s t  they could do. 

. We know why Joe ?lricht was at the Press Conference. 

Joe Wright was arouild. Re was there everywhere they had 

a march. Ferhaps t h e y  or Allen Hall knew soaething about 

Connie Tyndall t h a t  we don't h o w ,  and tha t  is why hint. 

Perhaps they  knew something  about Wayne Zoore that we don't 

know. And t ha t  l a  why him. Or something about Warvin 

Patrick t ha t  we don't know, and that is why hin. 

Perhaps Allen I tal l  -;;as in t he  churc!~. Perhaps 

he was not. Perhaps he did have a scuffle with C ! l i l i  about . 



t h e  gun. Yaybe C h i l i  didn't think A l l e n  Hall oucht to 

\ 
be in the church with a gun. naybe Allen Hall didn't like 

t h a t .  Yaybe t h a t  I s  why C h f l i .  I don't  know. 

MBybe A l l e n  l ial l  had soxething a~ainat Willie 

Vereen tha t  we don9t know about. Or maybe there v:as some 

unfortunate picture or some s u ~ p e s t i v e  picture of J e r r y  

Jacobs t h a t  we have never seen. We don't know what was in 

those pictures. We don't knoi~r what was shoun Hall. 

We donft know v h a t  questions were asked him. We don't know 

what responses he gave. 

Perhaps ~ 0 n e t h i n ~  about James XcKog; perhaps some- 

t h l n z  about R e ~ i n a l d  Epps; perhaps some thin^ about Ann 

Shephard. She, o u t s i r k  of t h e  ?erngleton1.s, w a s  t h e  only 

white person there as far as I know accordinq to ?:hat t h e  

State  says. 

I m e a n  why? T h a t  may be a quest lon t h a t  t:e can 

never answer, but we do kno:.~ t h a t  it hzppened. We do kno;r 

. t ha t  without Allcn Ilall ,  without Jerome !?itchell  and with-  

out :Totor 37ouse the S t a t e  has not shown you one s ingle  

- solitary thins that any person seated around this table dld; 

not one ; not one.  

The only other two reople who have told you that 



they have ever seen anyone of these defendants xas F'c. 

N 
Chlpps of the police department who many of you may knox, 

and ?4r. Welss who said he thinks he sa'* someone who looks 

like h i m  at his chinchilla farm one day. 
b 

5 Now I ask you i f  you would convict these people 

- on trial here on the words of these three people.  Can you 

believe them beyond a reasonable doubt? T h a t  is the real 

quest ion.  That  is what this case b o i l s  d0.m to, ladies and 

gentlemen. 

Can you b12 nol-hlly certain t h a t  ahat Allen Hall 

was tellin? you'on this witness stand is true? Can you be 

morally .cer ta in ,  convinced beyond a reasonnble doubt t h a t  
. 

what Jerome Mi tche l l  had to sap  is true? Can you you be 

morally certain and convir.ced beyond a reasonable doubt t h a t  

what !.lotor "louse said was t r u e ?  

And renember Yotor Vouse didn't say auch. They 

used hln for a l l m i t e d  purpose. ?erhaps fron; Yay to September 

was not enouch t i n e  to cet him to say e v e r y t h i n ? .  They xi11 
. - 

tell you t h a t  is because it was rebuttal testiaony. O u t  he 

didn't say much. They only had hir! t e s t i f y  to t h e  state-  

ment t h a t  he says he heard !,fib Shcphard make and the state- 

ment that  he aayo he heard Den Chavlo rnnlce. Ile didn't tell 



you how in t h i s  strlfc t o r n  area somebody took  h i m  out- 

side wid got him a t a x i  cab t o  g o - t o  t h e  hospita l  and how 

In t h l s  s t r i f e  t o r n  area a t a x i  cab brought him back. That  

I s  what he said happened. . .. 
. , .  

If the Sta te  felt that Motor ?4ouse had true, 
. ., ' 1 

. , .  relevant testinony to qlve in this courtroom, vrhy didn't 
I 

they  present him as a part of their case in chief?  

19 t h i s  a came ne are playin" where you hide 

witnesses in a bag and pull them out 

are we here to seek truth and justice? 

when you want them; or 

T h i s  is a serious 
. . , . 

~ . . 
. . 

t r i a l ,  ladles and gentlemen. It is not a gaxe. This I s  not 

1 %  "Pull the r e b b i t  ou t  of the hat."It i s  a very, very serious 
! 

matter t o  each one of these persons who sit here. And you 

don't t o y  around with lives of men and women by pulling boquses 

O u t  of a hat very, very s e r i o u s  c r I r l l na1  trial. 

They presented to you every p o l i c e  and f i r e x e n  who 

was out there I believe. They presented to you everybody 

that they could f i n d  anywhere rho  would say a n y t h i n e  aoout 

. . what happened in that  area. 1 - h ~  d i d  they have blotor itjouse? 

is very, 

reason he wasn't 

strpnqe . . t o  me Indeed. Perhaps f o r  some 

ready. Pcrhays fo r  some reason they didn't 

b e l i e v e  him. And theneout of an act of desperation perhapa I,.*- 



weld better glve them everything we possibly have, even . . 

little Motor Rouse even if we know he is l y i n g .  
. . 

It 1s a very, very serious, a very, very heavy 
. . 

matter we are dea l lnq  w i t h  here, . l ad ie s  and qentlemen. 

. THE COURT: :4embers of t he  jury,  we are going t o  

. , 
. . take a shoort recess now, about ten minutes. You 

- . . 
r e tu rn  to your roon. . : 

. . . . 
., . . .. - . - . . . .  _.. _. . . '  _ . . .  . . . .  . :_ _ .  . . . . . . .  . .  . - ,  ,.. (The Court recessed from ll:20 until 11:!40.) I .  . . . .  

- .  . . ,. , . . . . . .  . . -  . . not . , ,. . . . . . . . . . .  
, . . . .  . . . . 

I . . . .  - .  ... . . 
L 

. . . . . . .  . . .  , . .  . , .. :. COURT:, i e@l l / t a i i e  a recess until about 1:00 . - ,  . . . . .  .- . . I *., - .  . , . . , 
, . . I . . . . . .  ,. . . . .  . . .  . . . . . . . .  . . . . . .  ' , ' _  . ; . . 

. . 
. . . . .  . . . .  . . .  . , . . 1 .  

. . . .  . . . . .  , , . . . . . . , .  , . . 7 

-ofclock. If anyone has to leave,I want you to 
. . _. ' 

. . . . _ . . . . . . : : . . . .  - .  . . . .  . . . " . . . . . .  . . . '- - .  . 
, I .  . ' . . :- _ , / ._ . -_ 

. . . , . . . .  . . . . . . .  . . : . .  . . . . . . .  . . .  . .  , . -  . , . . . . . . . . . . . .  - . . . . . .  , , . . . . . . . .  . 
. , 

, . . , . . - ,. ' . - . ,  - . . . . leave now. 11e-lll not have any noise. Let the . . . .  
- .  . . 

. . . . 
. . . . . .  

. . .  , . . , . . .  .,. . . . 
" - .  . . . .  , .  , ... . . . , 
. . . . .  ' . . .  1pc .,- , *  ; . ,  - . . . .  : . . ,  . . .  - .  

?d* .~ ' , - . -  . . '  . 
, jury come in. . . , . . . . .  . . . . .  . . 

. . .._ . . . . , . 
.: . . , . 

- ,  . . - , ,  ~. , . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . .  . . . .  . .  -. '..? > , '.::    he J urg returned to t h e  jurybox. ) 
_ ..: 

, .  . . , . .  
2 . .  . : . . , , * . . . . . . . .  . . . . . - , . . . .  . r 

-. . . . .. , 
_..< . . . . . . .  . . , , . . , . .  . . -  

i 
. . .  (??re, Ferguson continued his sumrnat Ion to the  jury 

' . . , ,  . . . , . . . . .  . . . .  . . . . . ... . . .  . ,  . .  . . . . . . . . .  . , - .  . _ . .  . . .  
. . *  . . 

. . . . .  , . ,- 
. .  , . , . . . . . . . .  

, ... . . , as follows : ) . . .  . . .  . . . . . .  . , .  . . .  . ' . _  . . I  . . : . . 
.: ' I  . . . . . .  

. . 
. . 

. . . . ,  . . . . , , .  . , . .  . . . . . . .  .- . , 

May it please t h e  Cour t ,  ladies andgentlemen, I 
. . 

. . . .  . .  , - ,  , . . . , . - .  . . 

. t h i n k  you needed t h a t  break about as much as  I did .  It may 

. . . seem t h a t  I am t a l k i n q  for a long tjre, b u t  ir I arc I thlnk it 

* : is only because I think there are important matters here 
I *. . . 

, - -  . 
- 

t h a t  we need to deal with.  If you could bear it for over 

txo and a hal f  or three weeks while t h e y  presented a lo t  

of th ings  t o  you t h a t  we consider - irrelevant, wei-are only  



. . 
.+. 

ask in^ for a few h o u ~ s  of your t i m e  to l i s t e n  t o  us t a l k  

about then. It is i e p o r t s n t ,  and t h i s  is the only  time t ha t  we 
\ 

'I _ _ 
have t o  t a l k  t o  you. 

You remember when we were auestioning you we told 

you that t h a t  was t h ~  only t i n e  you would have to talk to 

us, and we s p e n t  abobt tvo weeks talk in^ t o  you and so wc 

are only go in^ to r p e ~ d  a little more t ime with our ta lking 

to you. 

I think yom may have seen that tbe upshot of the 

thln~s that  w e  have been t r y i n g  t o  project t o  you boils down 

t o  this. It-rai~cs the  q u e s t i o n  "Who gorroborates whom?" 
. . .: . ., 

, . -. , 
11411 f he Stlate put - I keep call ing them t h e  S t a t e  - 

it I s  +really the prdsecution. They a m  p i n g  t o  get up here 
.,., 

a n d s a y  they represent the State of North Carolina. You are 

part of t ha t  s t a t e ,  and you have pot to identify with then. 
I .  

The question is "Who 1s corroborat ing whom?" 
. 

. * .  .. 

: .-. .,   he^ prespnted Allen Hall and i t i t che l l  to tell you 
. . 

. - 
sorne-thlngs about t h e  defendants, about t h e  persons on t r i a l  

here. 

* . .  

And then theb presented to you a lone; s t r ine  of people 

t h a t  they sag corrdborate the t h i n g s  t h a t  H a l l  and Mitc!,ell 

told YOU* 

!!c say dq f f e r e n t  l y  . That  it 1s the other way 



around. Allen Hall and Jerone Mitchell.ere; In fact, 

corro'.,orating t h e  police, 

The poliae have a series of events which they 

say occurred over tlhe weekend of the 5th and 6th. 
, . 

Excuse, me Pour Honor, the lady may need some 
. . 

water. . . -. *-  

a . 
( A  j u ro r  was hapded xater. ) 

I real ly  t h i n k  when you think about t h a t ,  that i s ,  
. . 

in fact, what Ts hdppening I here. ~ l l e n  Hall is at tempt ing 
: , 

. .  - t o  corroborate  the  police. and o ther  persons that t h e  State 
'.r . . - * 

has been a b l e  t o  f ind t o  say t h a t  so&thinZ happened to A 

them. . 

I ax not golnc to dwell  on t h i s  because I t h i n k  

t h a t  t h e  picture I$ clear.  Ue have already shoxn :IOU that 

all the facts that Allen Mall t e s t i f i e d  to were in the 

possession of the )ol ice a full pear before Hall ever 

made a full s i ~ n e d  statement. P,nd even t hen  he left a 

f e w  t h l n c s  out ,  pieked  then up and come out w i t h  then. 

My colleagues pointed' out some of the inconsistencies in 

Hall's testimony given i!reviausly , under oath  and h i s  

testimony on t h e  witness s t and  and a l so  some inconsistencies 
. . 

t h a t  he made i n  hS@ statements that he signed and the 





can remember. AfteP he had already tes t i f i ed  about the 

one time, what is the point in conversing with him so 

many countless timels a ~ a i n ?  That is where t h e  inconsist- 

encies bccone very i s igni f lcant .  

i .You will recal l  t h a t  when the  pol ice  testified 
i 

albeit, a f t e r  l!all test i f ied they said that when theg were 

down at the intcrselction of F i f t h  and Nun t h e y  were draw- 
I 

ing  f i r e  from alonff Nun Street to the left over there, Aow 

if the closest  that Hall had gotten to that intersection 

or to the Intersectlion of Fif ' th  and ?fun w a s  the fntersection 

of S i x t l ~  and' Nun, tlhen t h e  f i r i n g  couldnt t have been coming 

from down in this qrea a l o n ~  t h e  street there h a l f  way Co-#n 

the block. So in arder to corroborate what t h e y  said he 
5 

had to take the int;ersection of Seventh and Hun and move 

it d o m  to S i x t h  arid ?lun and take intersection of S i x t h  and 

Nun . r i , sht  . off  the diasram and move it down to F i f t l l  and Nun - 
so he could t e l l  ydu he was dam in t h e  ziddle of the street, 

so he could be whene thc pol ice  said theg were d r a x i n ~  fire 
.- 

f ram. 

You see Uhis establ ishes  a pattern of how the 

t h i n q s  t h a t  he sags have t o  tie in with the t h i n c n  that the 

police sag, and t i a t  is one way of doinq it, by c h a n ~ i n c  it 



around. But at the sane t i m e  he has 

could look behind h i s  back and count 

to tell you t ha t  he 

t3e shots  t ha t  

con in^ from behind 'hin because the police a lso  said t)lat 

they were drawing some f i r e  from do:.m at the i n t e r s e c t i o n  

of Sixth and Nun. Its got to tie in. Het s ~ o t  to make 

t i e  i n .  

He sees tihat as his so& responsibility a s  a 

witness in t h i s  case. !hatever he needs to nay to corrob- 

O r a t @ .  xhat t h e  police off icers  said hapnened to them is 
.I 

what he w i l l  say. 

Now I asked him if at the preliminary hearinc 

he said anythlnq a b o u t  the police ~ s ~ n r i n z  helmets and t h a t  

b e i n g  a r a y  t h a t  he could see t h e x .  And he t o l d  you xhen 

, he t e s t i f i e d  under oath  previously he didn't say t h a t .  He 

learned since t h a t  t h e  p o l i c e  had helmets on and f lack vests  

or w!latever they s h i d ,  and he had to chanqz t he  tcs t i r lony  

to l e t  you know that whatever t h e  p o l i c e  sald  is e x a c t l y  

what happened. That is why these  inconaistencles ore 

significant because it shows you what his testimony is all 

about. 

So t ? y  sag, '!+:ell it doconat ratter . i ~ h e t h f r  he 

knew the p o l l c ~ :  had Ilelrnets or no t  if he knew they  were out 



OL there and f i r i n g .  

The poin8 I s  if he says it one way under  oath 

at one time and ledrns later t h a t  the p o l i c e   aid it 

d i f f e r e n t l y  or are going to say it dl f f e r e n t l y ,  he has 

got t o  c h a n ~ e  t h a t  to make it f i t  In. So ~ihen they t e l l  

you t h a t  these inc~nsistencies don't matter, you th ink  

about t h a t .  If it d o n V t % a t t e r ,  why is it chanzed? 

Allen Eall has to see t h a t  his tcstiaony f i t s  
4 

r i g h t  in w i t h  whatdver the p o l i c e  say happened or whatever 

anybody else says happened out there. And T want you t o  

keep t ha t  In mind tfhroughout h i s  testimony, 

Another Doint .  ?Jow he said t h z t  when t h e y  came 

down there on Satuedajr n i z h t  - we are t a l k i n g  about to t h a t  

intersection - and somebody threw a ffrebomb and it bounced 

back off the porch, no doubt he knew the pol ice  were gainrg 

to come in and s a y  that they t a l k e d  t o  t h e  man, and Ile 

k i c k e d  it back off the porch. You sec? It ties in p e r f e c t l y ,  

f i t s  ri_p;ht in, Jus$ l i k e  p u t t i n e  a puzzle t o g e t h e r  where all 

the parts have bee0 previously c u t  out .  

And Hall has t o  be everywhe:'e t h a t  anything has 

happened. He has kot to do t h a t .  Otherwise, he doesn't 

serve h f s  function, So a l t h o u ~ h  a p o l i c e  o f f i c e r  :.,:.uld t e l l  



us that  they were being f i r e d  upon at F i f t h  and Nun and 

, some of them said, aQ I recal l  i t ,  tha t  t h e y  l e f t  F i f t h  

and ?!un and drove on, around to Ann St ree t  and started 

towards S l x t ! ~  Street and they could see a blaze at ':ikets 

Grocery and tha t  a $ire truck was baclcing down the  street.  

Now I!all s a i d  that af ter  they l e f t  the lnter~ectlon at 

F i f t h  and Nun that he went back to the church, and t !~ree 
b 

people made speeche$; t h a t  he went over to Rev. Templeton's 

house with  Chavis and cane back to the church; t ha t  he 

. wal2cd aut on the perch and Marvin Patr ick .  made some s t a t e -  

ments about people $vho night be good shots,  and then he 

6-.. sald they came out t o  the bui ld ing ,  walked up and down 

S i x t h  Street to see if anybody was there ,  and then they 
. 

went behind the church to pass  out the fireSozbs; t h e y  vent 

. . down to : ? i k e s ,  set the firebombs in t h e  street or rlsht there 

on t h e  porch In  front of 3 i k c s ,  cane a l l  the way down to 

the corner of P l f t h  Street and Ann, saw Bather Jones ove r  

the re  and hollered out  to F a t h e r  Jon?%, "Is that you?" 

And he told sornebo4y not  to shoot. 

Now d i d  811 of that  haapcn In a s p l i t  second? Ro, 

but Hall has to be everywhere t h a t  evcrythlnc 3s hsppeninx. 

He doesn't have anp re-~ard f o r  t r u t h ,  He doesn't care how 



he te l l s  you he gob there. All he ficures he needs  to . 

do is tell you he Mas there. .. , 

You see, he knew these officers would say they 

were shot at F i f t h l  and :Pun, and he knew that Mike's , 

Grocery had burned! doxn. So hc has to tell you that 'that 

is what he d i d ,  

That he has t o  try 
4 

P a t r i c k ,  

Jacobs, T y n d a l l ,  Vcreen, Epps a n d  Ann B h e ~ h a r d  i n  all he 

is doing- So he hps got to go back to the church and say 

sonething w i t h  tham. He has cot to have then l e av ln s  the 

church gofng out t~ t h e  back of t h e  buildin? to get the 

f irebombs.  Ke has ~ o t  to do all t h a t .  

Fast man he is. Yell he is a fast man. Ile came 

off  the s t a n d  pretty fast, but I don't t h i n k  he is q u i t e  

t h a t  fast to do 211 t h a t .  Rut he had to tie the Father 

Jones incident in. ,Secause that is sonethlnc t h a t  some- 

one said happened. And isn't it i n t e r e s t i n c  that P a t h e r  

Jones' s t a t emen t  was sirned on Pehruary  17 and Hallq  s on 

Pebruar;# la? Isnt t that interestinz? 

And Rall puts himself r i ~ h t  out t h e r e .  iIe has 

qot to be cveryw?lepc that a n y t h i n g  I s  h a p n c n " - ~ ~ .  Ire can't 

miss a t l l i nq .  Aqain, who, ladies and gentlemen, who is 



3L Allen Hall Ls corroboratin~ the police. That 

is what is happening. \.batever they say happened had to 

happen. '.+hatever t h e y  said h a ~ p e n e d  had to involve  these 

persons on t r i a l .  matever happened had t o  have invo lved  

Allen Fall Secause he had to come here and tell about It. 

So he has qot I t  a l l  fixed up. 

And then ~ ~ f L t c h e l 1 .  It is 1nportar.t for t- l im to 

keep himself out a? aver:rthin.r. So a l l  t h a t  ? ! i t che l l  can 
., 

do 1s be there when people are l eaving and be there when 

silhouettes are running out of the  dark. That is h i s  role .  
man 

He is the/who stays behind. Fe I s  the nurderer  who can't 

afford to have anythinp else a g a i n s t  him. He is t h e  man 

who sits up here and t e l l s  you he didn't say anythins about 
. . 

Saturday night  until t h i s  past July because he didn't want 

to do anything t o  4nvolve h imse l f .  Then he coxes right 

back and tells you that on Saturday n i q h t  didn't a n y t h i n g  

happen to involve  him. Anghovr he already said t h a t  on 

Friday n i g h t  he wefit w i t h  a band doxn to Dock S t r ee t  and 

F l f t h .  

Can ,you 'be l ieve  anythiny, that boy s a l d  up here 

on the witness s tdnd? I:y God. But i ts  all r o t  to tie in. 

It3 a l l  ~ o t  to fiU i n  corncwhcre. 1tt a puzz le  w i t h  the 



pieces a l l  cut out ,  qnd you just have t o  f i t  them to- 

gether f o r  Furposes Of' thls trial, ladles  and yentlemen.  

That  i s  what w e  are $11 abou t .  

Xotor nous@ has to fit h i s  stnteaent in. He 

has to tie it in w i t h  Ann Shephard because  t h e  State is  

going to take the po8l t ion  that the only renson they 

b r o u ~ h t  h i m  in was t b  rebut what she and her tqitnesses 

said. Voter ?.louse h ~ s  to remember t h a t  Ann Shephard made 

t h e  s ta tement ,  *'We ape poinp, t o  show them crackers we mean 

business." Or, "We are goinry. to shoa them ;:ankles we mean 

- business. lt It doesn't' natter whlch he rays. Once you call 

them a name t!;ey have got to sboa Ann Slwgliard said it. It's 

pot to tie in. They brouqht him for that llnited purpose. 

tell you 

t ha t  Ben Cliavls w a s  in t h e  church shorriny: h i m  h ~ i i  to shoot 

and he and others were i n  the church shoot ing guns. 

That d i d  surprise me a l i t t l e  b i t ,  but then a ~ a i n  they  

hadn't expected t o  use him. P e r h a p s  he hadn't g o t t e n  all 

of h i s  part  rl(rflt. So they used him f o r  t ha t  l i m i t e d  pur- 

pose. 

Can't you see rrhatro happenin?? Can't you see w h a t  

t h i s  cane In all about? Kot one corroboratln~ vitncls of 

w h a t  A l l e n  Ha11 actually s a i d  he dld  other  t h a n  police and 



people uho have nave reports to police. Hot one, not a 

s ina le  one. 

He would tell you that 3 3 s  unc l e  was c ? r i n l c i n ~  

l i q u o r  vith h i m  on Priday  n i g h t  in one statement and t u r n  

around and say, "No, t h a t  was Saturday morn in r .  I was drink- 

ing  w i t h  my cousin." 

Do you mow why he said t h a t ?  Just like about 

the contex t  of which it happened. If you % d i l l  th ink  back 

with me it came out on cross examination. I asked 11iz 

very careful ly what time he came to the church  on Friday. 

He said around 5 d r  5:30. I asked  him w h a t  d i d  he do. 

He s a i d  he s tayed  a few minutes and l e f t  and went around 

cl.e corner to tall4 to ?larvin Patrick, t h a t  he t:as on his 

way to his couslnls house then, but he dcclded he  needed 

to cone back. A l l  of a cuddcn he j.s very needed tilcrc. 

llc sags he h a s  never been in t h e  church  tha t  %eel:, b u t  on 

Friday he is indlq:>ensable. He couldnl t yet back f r o 2  h i s  

counsinls house. Ile said he came back from Ecv. TempLctonts 

house,  saw ChavZs and zone fellow. Said J o h n  Robinson, 

whom we have never seen, aqain  n.nd t h e y  went out to Oleander 

.Slloppin,o: C e n t e r ,  houp;bt some ammunition, stopped :;one place  

to buy some ca:;, $topped somewildre e l se  to buy the Eas and 



came back. 

Mr. Bectdn pointed ou t  to you t h a t  a w h i t e  man 

and some lady, she $ s a x  the van, and then there was some 

talk about the chidago strateay. He went up first 

bedroom and there *as Chavis told him if he wanted to do 

a job  and he went $0 !-llkets Grocery or behind the  church 
* 

and to ~ike's  grocer^ and made an attenpt on it that night .  

Remember you had ptplice to come, and tell that 3-n atterrpt 

was made to burh Mikes t h a t  night. He has got to t i e  it 

in. 

Then he $ a i d  he came back over and they ;qent back 

and f o r t h  between the church and !?ev:Tenpletonqs house. I 

don't renember exact ly  what he s a i d .  9ut at  any rate t h e y  

ended up going down on ? i f t h ' m d  Nun and making an atternpt 

to burn t h a t  house down there.  

Then  t h e  police came in, told you t h e r e  was an 

attemnt on t h e  hoube on F r i d a y  n iyh t .  

Then thew went back to the church. There  was some 

talk about making -, 
Firebombs and demonstrations about making 

firebombs and v~hatbhave-you. And t h e n  he l e f t  to walk 

?!oily Alcks  home, and hr came becL and on d i r e c t  examination 

he had already s a i d  t ha t  was around 12:30 or 1 o'clock. 



>,F 

And I said, "Allen Mall, d i d  you leave the church 
-* . 

, . . . .  anytlme o t h e r  than  that?" 

And he safd, "No,sir; f d i d n ' t . "  

And then  T said, "Al len  Fall, didn't you s i ~ n  a 

statement on February 18,  1972 saying t h a t  you wont by your 

?Jncle Charles GrahamW.s house, t h a t  he was not there, t h a t  

his w i f e ,  his aunt was there, t h a t  she l e f t  and rent out and 
P 

got some f r i e d  ch ickbn  and came back and by that tine your 

uncle was t h e r e  an6 tlhey had a drink and then fre left t he re  

and went down to the VI'W Club and j i v e d  w i t h  Ramie Sellers?" 

And he sa id ,  "Oh, that was on Saturday morning." 

, . . . It was bec&use he had been caught f r i  a .lie about 

F r i d a y  night and couldn't explain it. So t h e  t h i n g  to do 

w a s  t o  move that t o  $aturday rnorninc. 

Eear in mind now he had already told you every- 

thing he did on Satupday morning. He told you he ~ o t  up 

and went over t o  Rev, Templeton's house. There w a s  talk 

there, and t h a t  Ben Chevis was t a l k i n g  about collectinrr 

money that he and Jakobs went up on Castle Street. Ae gave 

Jacobs some money to co buy some lime, and he went over to 

Rev. Templeton' 3 hou6e and he and Rev. C?lavis or b7arvln 

Patrick trent to h i s  aunt's house, got chiclcen and -came back 



and cot t h e m  prepare@. He had a l r e a d y  t o l d  you tha t  out of 

the clear Slue. I srked i f  t h a t  .is what he  did or. Caturde:: 

"I rea l ly  went to my uncle's house  on Saturday 

morning. I didn't r l e a l l y  40 to my uncles. I went, cot  the 

llauor into my coulpsiin. " Ire had already told you h i s  uncle  

lived on Castle wh1c.h is a distance frorr. the churcl?. f'e has 

got to be e t  h i s  cou:.inr s house,  vrhicll is nearer t t i e  church. 

And he came r l ~ h t  back. 

Bear in m4nd I had already asked him before t h a t ,  

"Had you a n y t h i n g  bo drlnb on F r i d a y  ni~ht?" 

st Lf :' *? r\O. 

"Had you anything to drink a l l  t h a t  weekend?" 

1' NO . " 
But then he sot cau!:ht t in t h a t  lie, and b e  had to 

move everyth1n.q he had said about T r i d a p  nlyht GP t o  S e t u r -  

day mominn. Thin s t h e  same' Al len  :I211 who  can t e l l  iP 

James :LcEop f i red  fLve a l lo ts  and Connie Tyndall tiiree and 

he can!.t even remember what he did on Friday n l g h t .  And 

he wants you to bclZeve it. f!el s got t o  move it a round ,  

slllft it about t o  M.t  t h e  f ac t s  t h a t  h e  had already learned. 

about. That is w11,alt h i s  testimony I s  a l l  about. 



And you siaw how' he reacted when he l i e d .  Mr. 

Stroud told him evelrytime he did angthlnq, told h i m  what 

time he got to chuHch, t o l d  him what t l n e  he  v e n t  t o  

F i f t h  and Nun, told h i m  what t i m e  he went t o  S l x t h  and 

Nun, told him what t i m e  he went t o  ??ikcs, t o l d  h i n  what 

time he went to ?-?o$ly Hicksf and Peanuts.Pnd everytlme 

it is about somethang. Told him what t l n e  he  cane i n  on 

Saturday n l ~ h t .  He had his t i m e  ire-set .just like t h a t .  

When f asked him aljout i t  in a d i f f e r e n t  way he couldn't 

tell you a sinqle Qine he  d i d  anything. Pn3 cot sad at 

me and charged me from t h e  witness s t a n d  because I asked 

him about ft. 

He was cdusht in a comer and he reacted like 

the vic ious  chzracller t h a t  he I s .  And In a s p l i t  second 

l a t e r  a f t e r  recess c.3me richt back hcre and sat t h e r e  just 

as cool as  anybody you have ever seen in your I l fe .  Oh, 

he can do it. Vho is corroboratinz whom? 

I am t e l l i n ; ?  you that Allen Hall v i l l  n i t  on 

this witness stand a n d ' t e l l  you llc after l i e  In order t o  

&et I t  r l g h t  t o  fit  i n  t o  corroborate what the police officers 

said. Keep t h a t  ih mind when you w r r i g h  t h i s  case. Keep 

t h a t  i n  mind vhan t h e  State t e l l s  you how terrible it m s  

t h ~ t  pol ice  and fitenen were shot a t ,  hon t e r r i b l e  i t  was 



Mikeis Grocery was blurned down. And I don't mean to tell 

you t h a t  these are not terrible t h l n ~ s .  They are. 1 can 

sym?athize w i t h  that(.  I have experienced my off ice  bein.: 

1 - 
burned down. I knon what  It fee l s  l ike  to have a Suildinq 

- .  burned. 1: know how T e f r .  Poulos f e l t  when he r.ral%cd t h e r e  

8 , "  t h a t  n t ~ h t  and saw his store in flames. I know ho;; Yrs. 
. . .  

Jackson felt when stp saw the place she  was l i v i n z  i n .  X 
. . , I  

know how Frs. !d?cKeitihan felt. I nave seen it all. But you 
. 'X 

. . . . don't go out and corjvict somebody on the flimsiest evidence 

. . , j u s t  because some teazic t h i n p  happened, and that is what 

thts case is a l l  abQut, 

T h a t  is wlby you have had all of these b u l l e t s  .. 

paraded before you t h a t  they say they found in t he  church. 

They are going t o  tell you a slncle shot was never f i r e d  

at t h a t  church. There wcre j u s t  some neople I n  there w i t h  

runs who were revol ibnt ionar ies  q c t t i n x  ready to go out 

here and shoot u? elerythin~ and t e a r  up e v e r y t h l n ~ .  They 

are going to b r i n ~  Ln these b u l l e t s  and say these were the 

b u l l e t s  f i r e d  out on ;Jun Street  on Saturday morning in t h e  

area bet'!een t h e  chprch and the parsonage and the corner.  

And thcse are  the she l l s  t h a t  were found in t h e  basement. 

End these are the shel ls  t h a t  ?reye found up in the l o f t  w i t h  



* .  

these five chairs Seated around there. And t h e s e  are t h e  

scissors and t h e  surgical tools that show they were pre- 

paring f o r  war andewanted sonebody to doc to r  them up when 

they got shot.  And yet  they are going to tell you t h a t  they 

sent the l i t t l e  bo* t o  the h o s p i t a l .  You see? They are 
2nd 

going t o  use it foe one purpose on one hand/another pur- 

pose on the other. 

Now what would have been the most kind of d e f i n i t e  

4 .  evidence t o  connec* these defendants w i t h  these b u l l e t s  and 

s h e l l s  that they say he found in the church, under the 
. . 

church, i n  t h e  l o f t ,  tehfnd t h e  house? What would have been 

Q the most t e l l i n g  evlidence that they could have presented 
-* 

on t h a t  point? Do you r e c a l l  I asked then, two or three 

of these of f icers  up here who testified about i t ?  : 
.. . "Did you ever submit these Items to lab tests?" 

What I was really a s k i n g  them was, "Did you ever 

have any f i n z e r p r i n t s  lifted from them? Did you ever have 

any f ingerpr in t s  l i r t ed ,  from those bot t les ,  State's  Exhibit  

48 and 49, that you found out there on S i x t h  Street in f ron t  

of Mikes? Did you ever submit them to a laboratory test to 

see whose f lngerpri+ts  might show up on them? Did you ever 

send those empty bohes of cartridges to the laboratory to 



have some f ingerpr in t s  l i f t e d  so li Joe Wright had it 

you coc ld  say some here are his. .Joe i . lri&htls finger- 

prints are here. $en Chavists f ingerpr in t s  r i g h t  along 

with some others we c m  i d e n t i f y  on these -45 s h e l l s  are 

here. Willie Vereehls f i n g e r p r i n t s  on these empty .22 

callber t o  show you he had t h e s e  shells. Here are Aeginald 

Eppsfs fingerprintst on these shells we found in' the loft 

to show you he was there t o  receive that  drink of water 

Allen Hall said he sanded him sald he gave h l m .  Here are 

James McKoyr s finger+print s. " 

Where 13 ane single f ingerprint? Where is one 

single lab report to show you t h a t  I s  what happened, if 

it happened? What dad they  do w i t h  tbern? 

"We took then all down t o  the pol ice  s t a t ion ,  
. . 

put them in t h e  she lr  and put them down here to drag them 

before you, t h e l r  t hqo ry  being If they could show you 

enough s t u f f ,  and enough empty boxes, enough unspent  sllclls, 

you would convict sodebody, and i t  would probably b e  these 

t e n  people on trial. That'is what t h i s  case 1s all about. 

They haven1% given you a sinele piece of be l i evab le  

evidence about any of these defendants. They have ohoxn 

you t h a t  there was R burning which we don' t  c o n t e s t .  Tl.ere 



0 
h w a s .  P7ikes was burded down and it is unfortunate. The 

two residences were burned down, and that is unfo r tuna te .  

Police were shot Satprday. That i s  unfortunate. 

Does t h a t  bean that you have got t o  go to people 

in a church afraid tO death because threats had been made 

on t h a t  church and t b e r e  has been sniper fire at tha t  

. * 
church, and that they may have t aken  some action t o  defend 

themselves, whoever ghey were, in  that church? Do you then 

go get those people and bring them out and convict them of 

burning down t h a t  gracery store and, by implication, those 

- kouses and convict them of conspiring t o  shoot at police 

- and firemen because they said that they were out there? 
L+, 

Ladles and gentlemen, I hope you will reject this 

play upon emotion by t h e  State.  

you all, 

You will reca l l  

"Do you think there is any Individual 

they asked 

that can use violence as a means of f u r t h e r i n g  t h e i r  aims?" 

That  is wha% it I s  a l l  about, They are going to 

t r y  t o  picture these aeople at this table a s  being a group 

that  was bent on violdnce for achieving whatever goals t h e y  

had. And that violende included burning and shooting and 

what-have-you. I 
And they 
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shot at so you could Ident i fy  with them and th ink about 

I t  and say, "That could have been me. So I had better 

convict somebody." 
- 

And they  brought In Mrs. McKeithan and Mrs. 

. F 

I .  

' Jackson to tell you something that you already knew. 
% 

C- .. - -  That t h e i r  houses burned because they wanted to say they 
b 

I . d i d n ' t  even s t o p  a t  whfte people. They were shooting s t  

black  people's 2ornc-s too. And that is supposed to appeal 
. I  

- t o  the two blacks on t h e  jury.  
I .. 

. .. You are t he  peers of these defendants, l ad i e s  and 
. . 

gentlemen and look at  yourselves  and look a t  them. ;:;hat is 

this case all about? 

. . 
. .  

Have you been convinced of anything beyond a 
, . 

reasonable doubt other than t h a t ,  that t h e  store was burned 

down and t h a t  po l ice  and f i renen were shot  at? It may have 

seemed silly to some of you when we asked you if you felt 

that a crime had been committed out here. But when you 

look at  It i n  the context that this case was p r e s e n t e d ,  it 

makes a l l  the sense in the world. We knew then ,  a s  we have 

seen now, that t h e  only believable evidence the S t a t e  could 

bring i n  the courtroom was evidence that indeed the s t o r e  

was burned and t h a t  s h ~ t s  were fired at police. And t h a t  
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CLv * is all that  t h e y  have proven. They have not proven t o  

.. you that any of these defendants d i d  anything. They have 

merely suggested it t o  you through someone l i k e  Allen 

Hall, Jerome Mitchell, and l i t t l e  Notor Nouse, That i s  

. a l l  that you have been presented here. 

That is what I want you t o  t h i n k  about when the, 

S t a t e  argues this case t o  you. They are going to preeent 

to you a picture of war and revo lu t lon ,  They are going 

t o  show you that  barricades were set up and armed guards 

put there and tha t  there were arms In the church and a l l  

t h i s  was terrible and never a shot fired a t  the church and 

never a police off icer  who was being mercilessly f ired 
. - -  

upon, never f i r e d  a weapon. That i s  t he  picture t h a t  you 

are going to be presented. 

- .  And I am a s k i n g  you to base t h l s  case on reason, 

not  emotion, You.are go ing  t o  have t o  sit together as a 

jury and dec ide  t h i s  case, ladies  and qentlemen. And in 

t h a t  light you have two rcsponslbilities. You have a 

responslbilty to deliberate together ,  to t r y  to reach a 

verdict; but you have a greater responsibility to follow 
. - 

yowown convictions, your own b e l i e f s  as you see the 
. .  . 

evidence and i n  t h a t  each one o f  you as an individual  and 



whatever decision you make which effects t h e  l i v e s  of  

these people here, each one of you has to bear ind lv ldua l  

.:* - responsibility t o  that, as w e l l  a s  responsibility of 
, * 

- .... twe lve .  

. . 
And each one of you told us t ha t  you could make 

up your own mind about t h i s  c a s e .  And we took you at your  
. . 

word when you said t h a t ,  and we expect you to do t h a t .  

Now, ladies and gentlemen, f have s a i d  a l o t  about 
L A  

: Al l en  Hal l  and Jerome Mitche l l  and l i t t l e  Motor !douse. They 

are not t h e  on ly  principal characters in this case. Often 
C - 

In the course of a trlal because you heard the words "Defen- 

dant" so much you sometimes ge t  t h e  Idea t h a t  defendants 

- - are j u s t  other objects in the t r i a l .  They are much more 

than t h a t .  These are people who are on trial here, l a d i e s  

and gentlemen. These are some mothern' and fathersf sons.  

These are living, breath in^ human h e i n ~ s  who f ee l  and love  

and care and unders tand  l i f e  and seek to live I t  with some 

- enjoyment. 

These are not defendants i n  t h e  sense that t h e y  

are objects .  These  are i n d i v i d u a l s  whose l i v e s  will soon 

be placed into your hands, whose f a t e  you w l l l  decide.  

Now the thought Is g o l n ~  to  go through your minds, 



C 
L ..= well, why haven't they t o l d  us sornethinq? They have. Each 

one of them told you that he or she i s  not guilty of the 
. . 

charges aqainst them. The Court will instruct you that they 

had no responsibility to prove anythfng to you, no obliga- 

tion to prove any thin^. T h a t  is the State's responsibility, 

and t ha t  I s  t h e  law, and each one of you said tha t  you would 

follow t h a t  law. You can thlnk a n y t h i n g  you will, but your 

obligation is to follow and apply the law,  and you must do 

t h a t .  

And understand that you have nineteen d i f f e r e n t  

decisions to make here. N o t  one, not tvo, but nineteen 

d l f r e r e n t  decisions. You have got t o  dec ide  whether or 
-a" 

not  it has been proven to you to your satisfaction beyond 

a reasonable doubt t h a t  Ferinald Epps consp ired ,  aqreed, 

confec-icr-ated u n l a w f u l l y  w i t h  the other  d e f e n d ~ n t s  to assault 

p o l i c e  and firemen in tk.2 v i c i n i t y  of 302 South Sixth Street 

on t h e  5th and 6th of February ,  1971. You have qot to 

d e c i d e  t h a t .  

You have got to d e c i d e  again whether or not  . 
Reginald Epps burned Mike's Grocery on t h e  niqht of t h e  6th; 

and remember that l i t t l e  Notor 'fouse even told you he never 

saw him. Perhaps he never saw a picture of him. I donf t 



know. But you have got to: look at h i m  a s  an Individual, 

a young man on t r i a l  here, really j u s t  a c h i l d  h imse l f ,  

and d e c i d e  whether he  d i d  those  t h i n g s .  

And you have ,qot to do the samething when it 

comes to James McKoy. You have got to decide whether the 

prosecution has proven to you that he actually committed 

these  offenses. You have got to look at James ?4cKoy as 

an Individual and slake t h a t  decision and be aSle to look 

hfm in the eye-when you come back into thfs courtroom and 

say, "We say you d l d  it." And say, "We believe Allen K a l l .  

We .belieye .Tc-~,qe Mitchell .  We belZeve Motor Mouse. You 

did it.". . .  

Alid you have got t o  t e l l  Willie Vercen tha t  same- 

thing before you find hln guilty. You have got to look a t  

him and a l l  of the peopie whom they care about and say, "You 

are a criminal because Allen Hall said you were, and Jerome 

Mitchell said you were, and N o t o r  ?touse said you were, and 

you are ~ u t l t y  of burning down 37ike1s  Grocery Store and 

g u i l t y  to c o n s p i r i n ~  with others to assault police and fire- 

men." You have got to be able t o  s ay  t h a t  and you have not 

to f e e l  norally certain I n  your own mind t h a t  he is before 

you can do it. 

And little Joe Wright, you have got to make t h a t .  


